



 100001
 10

 100001
 10

 100001
 10

 100001
 11

 100001
 11

 100001
 11

 100001
 11

 100001
 11

 100001
 11

 100001
 11

 100001
 11

 100001
 11

 100001
 11

 100001
 11

 100001
 11

 100001
 11

 10001
 10

 1001
 10

 1001
 10

 1001
 10

 1001
 10

 1001
 10

 101
 10

 101
 10

 101
 10

 101
 10

 101
 10

 101
 10

 101
 10

 101
 10

 101
 10

 101
 10

 101
 10

 101
 10

 101
 10

 101
 10

 101
 10

 101
 10

 101
 10

 101
 10

 101
 10

 101</t

COMPUTATIONAL

RNAL



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/csbj

# Spatially structured yeast communities: Understanding structure formation and regulation with omics tools



### Zdena Palková<sup>a,\*</sup>, Libuše Váchová<sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Genetics and Microbiology, Faculty of Science, Charles University, BIOCEV, 12800 Prague, Czech Republic <sup>b</sup> Institute of Microbiology of the Czech Academy of Sciences, BIOCEV, 14220 Prague, Czech Republic

### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 14 July 2021 Received in revised form 6 October 2021 Accepted 6 October 2021 Available online 9 October 2021

Keywords: Multicellular yeast structures Colonies Biofilms Spatial community structure Regulation Cell differentiation

### ABSTRACT

Single-celled yeasts form spatially structured populations - colonies and biofilms, either alone (single-species biofilms) or in cooperation with other microorganisms (mixed-species biofilms). Within populations, yeast cells develop in a coordinated manner, interact with each other and differentiate into specialized cell subpopulations that can better adapt to changing conditions (e.g. by reprogramming metabolism during nutrient deficiency) or protect the overall population from external influences (e.g. via extracellular matrix). Various omics tools together with specialized techniques for separating differentiated cells and in situ microscopy have revealed important processes and cell interactions in these structures, which are summarized here. Nevertheless, current knowledge is still only a small part of the mosaic of complexity and diversity of the multicellular structures that yeasts form in different environments. Future challenges include the use of integrated multi-omics approaches and a greater emphasis on the analysis of differentiated cell subpopulations with specific functions.

© 2021 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of Research Network of Computational and Structural Biotechnology. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

### Contents

1. 2.	Introduction	5613 5615
3.	Model and natural biofilms.	5615
	3.1. Colony biofilms and mats on semisolid agar - identification of specific cell subpopulations	. 5616
	3.2. Single-species biofilms on solid biotic or abiotic surfaces	. 5616
	3.3. Mixed-species biofilms on solid surfaces	5619
	3.4. Flor biofilms and other "positive" natural biofilms	5619
4.	Conclusions and perspectives	5619
	Declaration of Competing Interest	5620
	Acknowledgements	5620
Арр	pendix A. Supplementary data	5620
	References	5620

### 1. Introduction

In nature, microbes occur predominantly in multicellular communities that positively or negatively affect the lives of other organisms, including humans. Yeast communities have long been used in the food industry for the production of bread and alcoholic beverages, and more recently for the production of various enzymes and chemicals. On the other hand, many yeasts are opportunistic pathogens that pose a risk, especially to immunocompromised patients, causing both skin and systemic infections. The formation of multicellular biofilms is an important risk factor for these infections. Understanding the mechanisms involved in

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author.

E-mail address: zdenap@natur.cuni.cz (Z. Palková).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csbj.2021.10.012

<sup>2001-0370/© 2021</sup> The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of Research Network of Computational and Structural Biotechnology. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

### Z. Palková and Libuše Váchová

the formation, characteristics and development of communities formed by different yeast species is a prerequisite for improving the beneficial and reducing the harmful effects of such communities.

Complex spatial organization and cell specialization are key features of structured microbial communities with attributes of multicellularity, including intercellular communication, coordinated development, and cell differentiation [1,2]. Microorganisms, including yeasts, in such communities cooperate by secreting extracellular components such as the extracellular matrix (ECM), adhesins, enzymes, siderophores, and signaling molecules [2] that can be used or sensed by other cells in the population. Community organization thus depends on interactions among microbial cells and with the environment. Cells within structured populations integrate information in the form of gradients of nutrients, metabolites, and signaling molecules, each of which contributes to cell differentiation and specialization. Spatial patterns are formed with specific differentiated cell types located in specific regions of the community [3,4].

Research on structured communities relies on a number of methodological approaches that allow direct study of cells in a population context or rapid separation of cells from the structure for further analysis [5–11]. Rapid manipulation is critical to minimize cellular changes when manipulation alters the "multicellular context" in which cells reside. Omics analyses play a vital role in providing initial insight into the processes that occur in differentiated cells of structured populations, whether single or multispecies structures. These methods are also key to identifying processes regulated by specific regulators and signaling cascades (Table 1 and S1).

Structured microbial communities can arise in different ways, depending on the properties of their cellular constituents. During community construction, motile cells may come together and then specialize, as in fruiting bodies formed by certain bacteria (e.g., *Myxobacteria*) or amoebae (e.g., *Dictyostelium*), and in multispecies bacterial biofilms. An alternative, typical of non-motile cells (e.g. yeast), is to form structures by "staying together" after cell division [1]. However, non-motile cells can also aggregate through a combination of passive movement and interaction via their surface adhesins [12]. Therefore, both strategies are often combined. Complex structures of colonies formed by the division of non-motile yeasts typify "staying together", whereas biofilms formed after yeasts attach to biotic or abiotic surfaces use a combination strategy, "coming together & staying together". Whether a colony or biofilm



**Fig. 1.** Various types of yeast multicellular structures. A, schematic representation of the internal structures of colonies and different types of biofilms (side view of the middle part of the structure). Colored arrows indicate interactions between two cell types. B, cross sections of the structures visualized by 2-photon confocal microscopy (colony and colony biofilm) or wide-field microscopy (biofilm). Colonies: green, U-layer of cells expressing Cit3p-GFP; red, L-cells visualized as cell autofluorescence (adapted from [22]); colony biofilm: Rpa19p-GFP level differs in aerial and root parts (adapted from [7]); vertical structure of SLI biofilm (adapted from [30]). Dashed lines, surface of agar (white), polystyrene surface (black). Bars, 100 µm. (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

forms depends primarily on the properties of the yeast strain, with the ability to adhere to solid/semi-solid surfaces being one of the properties essential for biofilm formation (see Part 3). A comparison of the distribution of biofilm- and colony-forming *S. cerevisiae* cells shows that the decision is made at an early stage of structure development [12].

Here we summarize current knowledge on structure formation, cell differentiation and coordination in yeast colonies and biofilms, and also address changes and relationships that occur when yeast interact with bacteria in mixed species biofilms (Fig. 1). Each structure has advantages and disadvantages for studying cell interaction and differentiation. Biofilms are more complex structures that protect their cells from environmental influences, but some biofilm properties, such as the embedding of cells in extracellular matrix (ECM) and their connection by extracellular fibers, hinder some experimental manipulations. Biofilm research has become increasingly important in recent years, mainly because of biofilm key role in fungal infections [13-15]. Colonies are less structured and consist of precisely localized cell subpopulations that evolve synchronously over time, making specific cell types amenable to separation, relocalization, and other manipulation techniques. For these reasons, colonies have become an essential model for identifying mechanisms of multicellular structure formation, development, and regulation [3–4]. In this minireview, emphasis is placed on the use of omics methods (Table 1 and S1) in the study of different types of biofilms and colonies and their differentiated cell subpopulations, and on their combination with other techniques.

## 2. Yeast colonies - a model for research on cell differentiation and environmental adaptation

Environmental adaptation through metabolic reprogramming is essential for the survival of individual yeast cells and entire populations [3–4]. Yeast colonies on semisolid agar media undergo several metabolic phases throughout their development, during which metabolism is reprogrammed so that the entire population can cope with decreasing nutrients in the environment. Similar changes occur whether the colony is formed from a single cell (microcolony) or from a large number of cells placed close together on the agar medium (giant colony) [16]. Colonies on respiratory medium go through phases that can be monitored by changes in the pH of the colony environment - the acidic phase alternates with the alkaline phase and vice versa. The duration of each phase depends on the amount of nutrients and the number of colony cells consuming those nutrients [16,17]. The alkaline phase is associated with the production of volatile ammonia, which acts as a quorum-sensing molecule that synchronizes colony development in a given territory and is involved in metabolic reprogramming and differentiation of the colony [4,18,19]. Initial transcriptomic analyses provided a first glimpse into the metabolic changes that occur during each phase, showing that the transition from acidic to alkaline phase is associated with metabolic adaptation to nutrient deficiency and increasing stress in the colony [20-21]. Such metabolic reprogramming helps some cells escape stress and survive.

The introduction of methods for in situ analysis of internal colony structure [5,8,10,11] revealed further changes taking place during the transition to alkaline phase, in particular differentiation into two morphologically distinct cell subpopulations that are specifically localized and strictly demarcated. Thus, U cells were identified in the upper regions and L cells in the lower parts of the colony (Fig. 1) [5,16]. Previous transcriptomic analyses of whole colonies have helped identify marker genes that are turned on during metabolic adaptation [20]. *In situ* microscopic analyses

of GFP-tagged variants of their proteins have shown that the two cell types differ significantly in the expression of these genes. The key question then was how these subpopulations differ in metabolism and regulation. Due to the demarcated location of both subpopulations it was possible to separate sufficiently pure U and L cells for omics analyses (transcriptomic & proteomic). Omics comparisons, along with other analyses, showed that both U and L cells have unique properties that differ from cells of unstructured populations (shaken cultures in liquid media) [5]. U cells are long-lived and stress-resistant, but they also activate a number of metabolic genes and adaptive mechanisms, including autophagy, and have some active nutrient-sensing signaling pathways, such as TORC1 [5]. Many of the metabolic (transcriptional) features in these cells correlate with the transcriptional changes identified in the entire colony population during the transition from acidic to alkaline phase [20]. Many activations of expression in U cells are evident at both the transcriptome and proteome levels [5.6.22.23], as is the most pronounced repressive feature - decreased expression (mRNA and protein) of mitochondrial respiratory chain components, resulting in decreased mitochondrial OxPhos activity and respiratory shutdown. This change was also observed during colony switching between phases and appears to contribute to stress reduction in U cells. Subsequently, several branches of the mitochondria-driven retrograde signaling pathway have been identified to regulate the expression of specific targets in differentiated colony subpopulations [9,22]. In contrast to U cells, L cells have the characteristics of starving, stressed cells, but lack some typical features of stress-adapted cells (such as accumulation of storage compounds and a strong cell wall), and partially resemble colony cells from "acidic" phase before differentiation [5,23].

Omics comparison of U and L cells not only revealed the basic metabolic properties of these cells, but also showed their relationships and possible interactions within the colony, including the existence of a nutrient and waste product flow [5], analogous to the Cori cycle and glutamine-ammonia cycle, as described between tumor cells and mammalian tissues [24]. This finding was consistent with the metabolic and regulatory similarities found between U cells and solid tumor cells [5]. The model based on omics data (including cycling of nutrients and waste products so that U cells are supplied with nutrients at the expense of L cells) was supported by metabolite and enzyme activity measurements that identified glycolytic activity in U cells and release of glucans from L cell walls [25]. However, not all transcriptomic changes and differences were also reflected in the proteome. A typical example is the expression of ribosomal proteins, whose mRNA is higher in U cells than in L cells, while protein differences could not be detected.

Some features of U and L cells were also identified in two cell types, termed "outside" and "inside" cells (producing/non-producing Cit1p-GFP), separated by FACS from microcolonies of the Cit1p-GFP strain grown on glucose medium for 4 days [26]. Comparison of the transcriptomes of these cells showed that "outside" cells, positioned similarly to U cells, also expressed genes for translational and ribosomal proteins, genes for amino acid metabolism, and genes for glycolytic enzymes and enzymes with functions in cell wall biosynthesis. "Inside" cells, positioned similarly to L cells, also increased expression of genes involved in mitochondrial respiration and genes for cell wall degrading enzymes [26].

### 3. Model and natural biofilms

Biofilms are another type of multicellular structures formed by cell-surface and cell-cell adhesion and cell proliferation at the solid-liquid interface (SLI biofilms) or at the liquid-air interface (flor biofilms). Special cases are colony biofilms and mats growing on agar medium (at semi-solid surface-air interface), similar to colonies (Fig. 1) [4]. Common to all biofilm types is that only yeasts with specific properties (e.g. cell adhesion ability and ECM production) can form a biofilm. At the same time, biofilm formation is not so much a species property, as a property of specific strains, some of which can modify - deactivate and reactivate - this ability. Furthermore, the ability to form biofilms is affected differently by growth conditions in different yeast species/strains. For example, some natural strains of S. cerevisiae, as well as yeast strains belonging to important opportunistic pathogens such as *Candida albicans*, C. glabrata, C. tropicalis, C. dubliniensis, and C. parapsilosis, produce biofilms, but the conditions of biofilm formation and biofilm structure can vary considerably [27-30]. As with bacteria, biofilm formation is usually associated with increased virulence of the yeast pathogen. Typical features of yeasts necessary for biofilm formation include the ability of cells to adhere to biotic/abiotic surfaces. ECM formation, and in some cases the formation of hyphae/pseudohyphae. Other biofilm-related processes include activation of multidrug resistance (MDR) transporters and metabolic reprogramming leading to changes in cell wall components, among others. All these specific properties contribute to the high resistance of biofilm to the environment.

## 3.1. Colony biofilms and mats on semisolid agar - identification of specific cell subpopulations.

Biofilm-forming yeasts form colony biofilms when grown on semisolid agar, with 3D structure influenced by medium composition and agar density. A special type are "mats", flat structures formed by yeasts, including wine yeasts, that spread on lowdensity (0.3%) agar [31]. Mats exhibit similarities to flor biofilms and differ in morphology and size when formed by different strains [31,32]. Like colonies, colony biofilms and mats are easier to culture and manipulate than other biofilms and have therefore become an experimental model for studying the mechanisms of biofilm formation, including the identification of key regulators, particularly in *S. cerevisiae* [4]. These biofilms have also made it relatively easy to identify emerging subclones that have undergone "domestication," a process in which yeast turn off mechanisms important for biofilm formation and begin to form smooth colonies similar to those of laboratory strains [33]. This process is reversible and depends on nutrient sources and the presence of environmental stressors [34]. Most of the knowledge has been gained by analyzing the ability of S. cerevisiae mutants to form colony biofilms. For example, the surface adhesin Flo11p was identified as critical for both cell adhesion and colony biofilm formation [29,35,36]. Regulation of FLO11 expression is complex [37], and most regulators identified by the reduced ability of their deletion mutants to form biofilms also affect *FLO11* gene expression [35]. An example is the antagonistic regulation of colony biofilm by Tup1p and Cyc8p, where Tup1p activates FLO11 gene expression and contributes to Flo11p stability, while Cyc8p is a FLO11 repressor [38]. In contrast to Flo11p, whose deletion completely abolishes the ability to form biofilms in various non-isogenic S. cerevisiae strains, the effect of the absence of other factors (including regulators unrelated to Flo11p) on biofilms is often strain-specific [4].

Several microscopic methods have been introduced to analyze the internal 3D organization of colony biofilms, allowing the identification of the presence and localization of differentiated cell subpopulations, such as cells with active MDR transporters on the surface and internal cells embedded in the ECM (Fig. 1) [11]. The internal arrangement of biofilms is more complex than that of colonies. Part of the biofilm consists of cells invading agar (the "root part"), and components such as ECM and extracellular fibers connecting biofilm cells complicate cell separation. Obtaining differentiated cells for subsequent omics analyses is therefore more

difficult than for colonies. Identification of metabolic properties of colony biofilms by omics methods has so far mostly targeted the easier-to-isolate parts above the surface of the agar medium (the "aerial part") and differences between the wt and different mutants or between the wt and spontaneously domesticated yeast strains have been analyzed. For example, comparison of transcripts from colony biofilms of wild strains and colonies of domesticated isogenic strains, revealed complex reprogramming of metabolism between biofilm and domesticated colony, including activation of various glucosidases, maltases and glycosylation enzymes in the biofilm [33]. S. cerevisiae mutants in signaling pathways regulating filamentation (e.g., ste12, ras2 and rtg3) form differentially structured colony biofilms and mats. Comparison of the transcriptomes of their colony biofilms with wt biofilms revealed an intertwining of these signaling pathways and indicated their role in coregulation of target genes related to cell adhesion (e.g. FL011) and cell wall structure [39].

The introduction of a method for separating "root" cells from agar allowed comparison of the transcriptomes of cells from the two main parts of the colony biofilm - the aerial and root regions [7]. Cells in aerial regions increase expression of genes related to metabolism of storage compounds, autophagy, stress response, and selected pathways of carbohydrate metabolism (e.g., fatty acid  $\beta$ -oxidation), whereas root cells express a range of metabolic genes (e.g., amino acid metabolism) and nutrient transporters [4,7]. Identification of specific target proteins for both regions in combination with microscopy then helped to identify additional smaller cell subpopulations in both the aerial and root biofilm parts [7].

### 3.2. Single-species biofilms on solid biotic or abiotic surfaces

Yeast biofilms (Fig. 1), like bacterial biofilms, form on natural substrates, including mammalian and plant tissues, as well as on a variety of synthetic polymeric materials. The basic cycle of biofilm formation involves 4 phases - i) cell adhesion to the substrate, ii) biofilm initiation (sometimes referred to as proliferative phase) in which adherent cells form a basal layer consisting of yeast-like cells, pseudohyphae and hyphae, iii) biofilm maturation into a complex structure, in which a large amount of ECM is formed, and iv) biofilm dispersion, in which yeast-like cells are released from the upper parts of the biofilm is the so-called persisters, a subpopulation of metabolically quiescent cells that manifest only in situations where most biofilm cells are killed, e.g. by antifungal drugs [42,43]. Persisters survive the effect of these drugs and can give rise to a new biofilm.

Although biofilms are produced by a number of yeast species, most current information relates to biofilms of C. albicans, which is responsible for the largest number of fungal infections and whose ability to form highly antifungal-resistant biofilms contributes significantly to its pathogenicity [41,44,45]. Different types of in vitro biofilms in different media are used for research, e.g. those adhering to polystyrene plates, silicone squares or, less commonly, cotton wool [42,46,47]. The second option is in vivo biofilms formed in the host - e.g. mouse and rat catheter models or prosthesis models [48-50]. Various techniques have been used to determine the structure and activity of in vitro biofilms, including microscopic analysis of cell viability, methods to determine biofilm biomass (including the effect of antifungal drugs), often in combination with analysis of specific mutants [15]. These approaches have provided important information on differences in biofilm structure under different nutrient source conditions or in different strains, and on the function of specific genes. However, for the identification of functional components of biofilms and regulatory mechanisms involved in biofilm formation, mutant strain libraries, biochemical metabolic assays (e.g. ECM and cell wall

analysis) and omics methods (transcriptomics, proteomics and ChIPseq) have become essential (Table 1 and S1).

An ECM composed of extracellular polymeric substances secreted by biofilm cells is critical for biofilm formation, its structural integrity, and its resistance to environmental factors, such as antifungal agents, some of which may bind directly to the ECM. The ECM of C. albicans is composed of proteins (55%), carbohydrates, mainly mannans associated with β-1,6-glucans (25%), lipids, neutral and polar glycerolipids and sphingolipids (15%) and nucleic acids - eDNA (5%) [15,51]. Proteomics identified more than 500 different proteins in the ECM, including enzymes that lack secretory sequences and likely enter the ECM from a small fraction of lysed biofilm cells, along with other components such as eDNA. Enzymes associated with carbohydrate (particularly TCA cycle, pyruvate metabolism and glycolysis/gluconeogenesis), amino acid and energy metabolism have been identified [15,51]. Several other identified proteins are related to ECM polysaccharide production and modification. In addition, proteomics of the ECM of in vivo biofilms has identified a number of host cell molecules [51-52]. Despite the evidence for the role of primary intracellular proteins/enzymes of the ECM in cell adhesion [53], placing them among "moonlighting" proteins, the functions of these proteins are still largely unknown. Since these proteins lack secretory sequences, they may either originate from disrupted cells (the proteins are re-adsorbed to the ECM) or reach the cell surface via an unconventional mechanism, such as extracellular vesicles [53]. Extracellular vesicles (EVs) are another component of biofilms that appear to play important roles in several processes, including ECM production and biofilm drug resistance [54]. EV biogenesis is thought to occur via the conventional secretory pathway (endoplasmic reticulum, Golgi apparatus, exocyst, plasma membrane), ESCRT-mediated MVB, or other pathways; however, mutant strains that cannot produce EVs have not yet been described [55,56]. Proteomics has identified numerous proteins in EVs from biofilms of various yeasts, but their protein composition varies widely and few studies have compared the abundance of proteins in EVs with their abundance in cell lysates or other types of vesicles [57]. Metabolic and proteomic analyses of *C. albicans* biofilm EVs compared to vesicles released from planktonic cells revealed major differences in protein composition: 34% of the proteome is specific to biofilm EVs and a number of other proteins are significantly more abundant in them [54]. The protein composition of biofilm EVs resembled the protein composition of ECMs, as did their polysaccharide content (predominantly mannan and glucan), suggesting that about 45% of ECM proteins might be transported there via EVs. Intracellular enzymes of biofilm ECM have not been identified in these EVs [54]. Although mutants with reduced EV production formed a biofilm, this biofilm was more sensitive to the antifungal drug fluconazole. The assumption that EVs transport specific components of the ECM was also supported by the finding that the EV defect can be complemented by EVs from the wt biofilm [54].

By screening libraries of mutants with deletions in transcriptional regulators in combination with transcriptomics and ChiP methods, more than 50 transcriptional regulators differentially involved in *C. albicans* biofilms have been identified to date [15]. Deletion of these regulators resulted, for example, in changes in biofilm structure (weakening or strengthening), loss of hyphal cells, reduced adherence to substrates, or changes in ECM and drug resistance. Nine "core" regulators (Bcr1p, Brg1p, Efg1p, Flo8p, Gal4p, Ndt80p, Rob1p, Rfx2p, and Tec1p) are required for biofilm formation both in vitro and in vivo [48,58]. ChIP and transcriptomics determined the functional association of the core regulators within the transcriptional interaction network, as well as target genes whose expression is similarly regulated by some of the core regulators [58]. These target genes include those encoding the adhesins Als1p and Hwp1p and the permease Can1p, whose deletion leads to partial disruption of biofilm formation and properties. Transcriptomics also identified the importance of individual core regulators at specific stages of biofilm development and the stepwise expression of their targets [48]. One example is the identification of a group of regulators involved in the first step of biofilm formation - adhesion - and their targets, such as the gene encoding the adhesin Als1p, which is regulated by the transcription factor Bcr1p [59].

Identification of core regulators and their targets in C. albicans biofilm raised the question of the extent to which the regulation and mechanisms of biofilm formation are universal with respect to biofilms of other yeast species and different growth conditions. A recent study focused on comparing biofilms of the evolutionarily related C. albicans, C. tropicalis, C. dubliniensis and C. parapsilosis (all belonging to the CTG clade, which decodes the codon CTG as serine instead of the usual leucine) in terms of biofilm formation on different media and analysis of the function and targets of 7 conserved core regulators of C. albicans (Bcr1p, Brg1p, Efg1p, Flo8p, Ndt80p, Rob1p and Tec1p) using ChIP seq and transcriptomics [28]. The comparison showed that only in *C. dubliniensis*, which is most closely related to C. albicans, all 7 regulators are involved in biofilm formation, whereas only 3 regulators (Bcr1p, Efg1p and Ndt80p) play a role in biofilm formation in all 4 yeast species. Correlation between biofilm transcriptomes was relatively low - 29% agreement between C. albicans and C. dubliniensis and 24% between the evolutionarily more distant C. albicans and C. tropicalis, consistent with significant differences in regulator-target interactions identified by ChiP seq. Similarly, a comparison of C. parapsilosis and C. albicans biofilms and their mutants grown under different conditions revealed significant differences in the importance and targets of individual transcription factors [60]. However, it cannot be excluded that "unproven" transcription factors also play important roles under other conditions of biofilm formation. The same is true for target genes, where current omics-based knowledge is insufficient to distinguish functions directly related to biofilm formation from metabolic functions, whose regulation also differs in different veasts and conditions. For example, the conditions (medium composition) used to compare the 4 yeast species of the CTG clade did not lead to biofilm formation in C. glabrata and S. cerevisiae (not belonging to the CTG clade) [28], which form a structured biofilm under different conditions [27,30,61].

The natural S. cerevisiae strains that form colony biofilms (see above) also have the ability to adhere to a polystyrene surface and form a structured biofilm (Fig. 1) [30]. Apart from Flo11p, which is essential for cell adhesion and biofilm formation on polystyrene [62–64], little is known about metabolic changes and regulation behind the formation of these biofilms. Recent findings of antagonistic regulation of biofilm adhesion, formation, and dispersion by the regulators Cyc8p and Tup1p and environmental glucose (at concentrations similar to blood glucose) have suggested a possible mechanism for regulating the biofilm life cycle in host organism [30]. Transcriptomics of biofilms from wt and mutant S. cerevisiae strains on cotton fibers suggested a role for other FLO genes encoding the flocculins Flo1p, 5p, and 9p and the transcriptional regulator Mig1p at later stages of biofilm formation [47]. The formation of these biofilms is also potentiated by NO, where transcriptomics together with proteomics revealed the importance of Ctr1p (plasma membrane copper transporter) and its transcriptional regulator Mac1p. This regulation was independent of Flo11p and concentrations of Cu and Fe ions [65].

Although knowledge of biofilm formation as well as the global networks of its regulation has increased substantially in recent years, few studies have analyzed differentiated cell types that arise in the biofilm during its cycle. An exception is the analysis of dispersed cells and persisters of *C. albicans* biofilms [42,66]. Transcriptomics comparison revealed significant similarities between

## Table 1 Selected omics studies of structured yeast populations and/or their differentiated cells.

Structure	Yeast species/ strain	OMICS approach	Conditions/ medium	Comparison	Major finding	Part of the structure	Ref
Colony	S.cerevisiae/ BY4742	Transcriptomics	agar plates/ respiratory	time kinetics	activation of adaptive metabolism associated with ammonia signaling	whole	[20]
Colony	S.cerevisiae/ BY4742	Transcriptomics	agar plates/ respiratory	$U \times L$ cells	main features of differentiated U and L cells and their interactions	U & L cells	[5]
Colony	S.cerevisiae/ BY4742	Proteomics	agar plates/ respiratory	wt $\times$ whi2 $\times$ psr1psr2	WPP complex involved in interference competition	whole	[6]
Colony biofilm	S. cerevisiae/ BRF	Transcriptomics	agar plates/ respiratory	aerial $\times$ root cells	main features of aerial and root cell metabolism	aerial & root cells	[7]
Biofilm	C. albicans	Transcriptomics	polystyrene/ Spider	biofilm $\times$ planktonic; wt $\times$ mutants in 6 TFs	mutual regulation of six regulators, 19 targets differentially regulated by all regulators in planktonic and biofilm cells	whole	[58]
Biofilm	C. albicans	Proteomics, metabolite analysis	polystyrene / RPMI-1640	ECM	macromolecular composition of biofilm ECM (exopolysaccharides, lipids, eDNA, proteins)	ECM	[51]
Biofilm	C. albicans	Transcriptomics	plastic plates, BSA/ Spider	biofilm $\times$ planktonic, 8–48 h	3 novel regulators Flo8p, Rfx2p and Gal4p identified and characterized	whole	[48]
Biofilm	C. albicans	Proteomics	polystyrene/ YNB, glucose	biofilm +/- amphotericin B	proteomics characteristics of persister cells	whole, persister cells	[42]
Biofilm	C. albicans	Transcriptomics	silicone (flow system) / YNB, glucose	biofilm $\times$ planktonic $\times$ dispersed cells	dispersed cells differ from planktonic cells and retain some of the expression characteristics of biofilm cells	whole, dispersed cells	[66]
Biofilm	C. albicans	Proteomics, metabolite analysis	polystyrene / RPMI-1640	ECM, EVesicles; biofilm $\times$ planktonic	biofilm EVs deliver cargo to the ECM, EVs play a role in biofilm resistance	ECM, EV	[54]
Biofilm	C. albicans, C. tropicalis, C. dubliniensis, C. parapsilosis	ChIP-seq, Transcriptomics	polystyrene/ Spider + glucose	biofilm $\times$ planktonic; wt $\times$ mutants in 7 master regulators	large differences in master TF target genes between <i>Candida</i> spp.; only 3 master TFs (Bcr1 p, Efg1 p, Ndt80p) required for biofilms in all 4 species.	whole	[28]
Mixed species biofilm	C. albicans, S. mutans	Transcriptomics Proteomics	polystyrene/ UFTYE, 1% sucrose	single $\times$ mixed species biofilms	S. mutans provides sugars to C. albicans; C. albicans lowers biofilm pH and helps S. mutans survive	whole	[68]
Mixed species biofilm	C. albicans, S. aureus	Transcriptomics	mouse catheter model	single $\times$ mixed species biofilms	<i>C. albicans</i> modulates transcription of <i>S. aureus</i> to increase eDNA and extracellular polysaccharides	whole	[50]

dispersed and biofilm cells and differences between dispersed and planktonic cells [66]. Dispersed cells retained a number of expression properties of biofilm cells, but also acquired other novel properties distinct from both biofilm and planktonic cells, such as expression of genes for various transporters and carriers, proteases and lipases, and lipid metabolism, which may help these cell to obtain nutrients such as zinc and amino acids and metabolize alternative carbon sources. Dispersed cells retain the ability to adhere, but preferentially express different adhesins (ALS5 and ALS6) than biofilm cells (ALS2, ALS3, and ALS4). Proteomics of persister survivors in biofilms after amphotericin B treatment compared to cells from untreated biofilms identified more than 200 differentially expressed proteins [42]. In contrast to biofilm cells, persisters inhibited key pathways of C and N metabolism, such as glycolysis, TCA and pentose phosphate pathways, and enzymes associated with amino acid metabolism, and only key enzymes of the glyoxylate cycle (isocitrate lyase and malate synthase) and gluconeogenesis (fructose-1,6-bisphosphatase) were upregulated. On the other hand, persisters highly expressed proteins related to stress response (Hsp proteins), cell adhesion, morphogenesis and cell cycle, which are important for cell viability and virulence [42].

### 3.3. Mixed-species biofilms on solid surfaces

C. albicans often forms biofilms in host organisms, along with bacteria such as Klebsiella pneumoniae, Staphylococcus aureus, Streptococcus gordonii, Streptococcus mutans and others, and the coexistence of both organisms often results in the formation of a stronger and more resistant biofilm, compared to single species biofilms [15,67]. Omics (especially transcriptomics and proteomics) play an irreplaceable role in revealing the mutual metabolic relationships of microbial species in biofilm and identifying their specific markers (Table 1, Table S1) [50]. For example, a recent transcriptomic study revealed the effect of C. albicans on another pathogen, S. aureus, in a mixed-species biofilm formed on a catheter [50]. There, the presence of *C. albicans* stimulates the biofilm formation network in S. aureus by down-regulating the lrg operon, the autolysis repressor, and up-regulating the ica operon to produce intercellular adhesin PIA, which together leads to increased production of eDNA and ECM essential for bacterial biofilm formation and stability. More than 100 differentially expressed genes have also been identified in C. albicans, but their role in mixed biofilm is unclear. Multi-omics analysis (transcriptomics and proteomics) of mixed-species biofilms of C. albicans and S. mutans identified metabolic changes in both microorganisms - a significant increase in proteins of various pathways of carbohydrate metabolism, including sugar transport, glyoxylate cycle and aerobic respiration in C. albicans and an increase in TCA cycle proteins and the pentose phosphate pathway in S. mutans [68]. There was also an increase in cell wall structure-associated proteins in C. albicans and various sugar transport systems and glucan and cell wall biosynthetic enzymes in S. mutans. A positive interaction between the two organisms was identified in the biofilm, where S. mutans produces glucosyltransferase B (GtfB), which binds to the surface of C. albicans and cleaves sucrose into glucose and fructose, facilitating sugar uptake by the yeast. The yeast in turn lowers the pH of the biofilm through its metabolism, thus helping S. mutans to survive [68].

### 3.4. Flor biofilms and other "positive" natural biofilms

The flor biofilm formed by certain *S. cerevisiae* strains during the production of sherry wines is a classic example of a "positive" biofilm associated with the food industry. Towards the end of alcoholic fermentation, when nitrogen and carbon sources become limited, yeast switch their metabolism from fermentative to oxida-

tive (diauxic shift), begin to adhere and cell aggregates reach the surface with the help of CO<sub>2</sub> bubbles, where they form a liquidair interface biofilm (velum) [69]. As with other S. cerevisiae biofilms, the formation of flor biofilm is dependent on Flo11p and its regulators [70]. Proteomics and metabolomics revealed metabolic changes during flor formation, including alterations in oxidative carbohydrate metabolism (e.g. glyoxylate and TCA cycle), cell respiration, cell wall biosynthesis, and glycosylation. Metabolic analyses identified components associated with the specific aroma of wine produced at the time of flor formation, such as acetaldehyde, isoamyl alcohols, 1,1-diethoxyethane, ethyl and isoamyl acetates, and 4-butyrolactone [69,71-73]. The relationship between metabolic changes and the production of specific metabolites and their possible role in biofilm formation is still unclear. The ability of some halotolerant veasts to form resistant flor and SLI biofilms with a high content of enzymes for biosynthetic processes in the ECM could potentially be exploited for biocatalytic processes and applications [74].

Biofilm formation by so-called biocontrol yeasts could be an important strategy that allows effective competition for space and accumulation of biogenic products. Biocompetition prevents a pathogen from invading a host, such as a plant, by competing for space and nutrients, producing a specific toxin, enzyme or certain volatiles, or inducing resistance [75]. For example, florbiofilm-yeast effectively colonize apple wounds, controlling development of the blue fungus Penicillium expansum [75]. The dependence of biocontrol function on environment can be documented by Pichia fermentans, whose biofilm formed in apple wounds prevents the development of other diseases. In contrast, biofilm formation by this yeast in pear wounds leads to the growth of hyphae and decay of inoculated fruit [76]. Despite the existence of a number of documented examples and proposed mechanisms of interaction between microorganisms leading to biocontrol summarized in a recent review [75], molecular analyses (including omics) are still largely lacking.

### 4. Conclusions and perspectives

The development of omics techniques that provide comprehensive information on cellular expression at multiple levels (transcriptomics & proteomics), localize target genes of specific regulators (ChIP seq), and identify extracellular metabolites, along with the widespread use of deletion strains, has dramatically expanded knowledge of molecular mechanisms and regulation in structured yeast populations. Further development of integration tools that combine multi-omics data to better understand the interrelationships of the biomolecules involved and their functions at different levels will undoubtedly accelerate this progress. At the same time, however, genome-wide analyses have clearly demonstrated that the formation of multicellular structures, whether colonies or biofilms, is a highly complex process involving a number of parallel regulations that can vary depending on the conditions under which the structure develops (e.g., different nutrient sources) and the genetic makeup of the microorganism. Divergences in the processes and regulations involved in the formation of a given structure are evident not only between individual yeast species (e.g. biofilms of different *Candida* spp., [28]), but also between individual strains of the same species (e.g., differences in the ability to form biofilms in S. cerevisiae, [30]). Also, the question of which external signals contribute to or block biofilm development, which signaling pathways respond to them, and how the transition between the different developmental stages of multicellular structures is controlled is still almost completely open. Moreover, most omics analyses to date have examined whole structures, often in comparison to structures that have been altered, either by

### Z. Palková and Libuše Váchová

changing growth conditions or by the absence of a gene, important for structure development. Thus, little information is available on the properties, regulation, and interactions of specific differentiated cellular subpopulations of multicellular structures. The development of microscopic techniques and fluorescent markers to visualize the presence of a specific cell subpopulation within the structure, as well as techniques to separate differentiated cells for subsequent omics analyses, is essential for development in this area. However, the development of these methods in biofilms is limited in part by the fact that biofilms are a complex structured population of tightly interconnected cells. Single cell sequencing methods, the development of which is also advanced in yeast [77], in combination with micromanipulation techniques, could partially circumvent this limitation.

### **Declaration of Competing Interest**

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

### Acknowledgements

The authors thank Derek Wilkinson for proofreading the manuscript. The work was supported by Czechia Science Foundation 19-09381S and 19-11384S; and LV also by RVO 61388971.

### Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csbj.2021.10.012.

### References

- Tarnita CE. The ecology and evolution of social behavior in microbes. J Exp Biol 2017;220:18–24.
- [2] West SA, Diggle SP, Buckling A, Gardner A, Griffin AS. The social lives of microbes 1. In: Annual Review of Ecology Evolution and Systematics, Annual Reviews: Palo Alto. p. 53–77.
- [3] Palková Z, Váchová L, Yeast cell differentiation: Lessons from pathogenic and non-pathogenic yeasts. Semin Cell Dev Biol 2016;57:110–9.
- [4] Vachova L, Palkova Z. How structured yeast multicellular communities live, age and die? FEMS Yeast Res 2018;18(4):foy033.
- [5] Čáp M, Štěpánek L, Harant K, Váchová L, Palková Z. Cell differentiation within a yeast colony: metabolic and regulatory parallels with a tumor-affected organism. Mol Cell 2012;46(4):436–48.
- [6] Maršíková J, Pavlíčková M, Wilkinson D, Váchová L, Hlaváček O, Hatáková L, et al. The Whi2p-Psr1p/Psr2p complex regulates interference competition and expansion of cells with competitive advantage in yeast colonies. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2020;117(26):15123–31.
- [7] Maršíková J, Wilkinson D, Hlaváček O, Gilfillan GD, Mizeranschi A, Hughes T, et al. Metabolic differentiation of surface and invasive cells of yeast colony biofilms revealed by gene expression profiling. BMC Genomics 2017;18 (1):814.
- [8] Piccirillo S, Morales R, White MG, Smith K, Kapros T, Honigberg SM. Cell differentiation and spatial organization in yeast colonies: role of cell-wall integrity pathway. Genetics 2015;201(4):1427–38.
- [9] Podholová K, Plocek V, Rešetárová S, Kučerová H, Hlaváček O, Váchová L, et al. Divergent branches of mitochondrial signaling regulate specific genes and the viability of specialized cell types of differentiated yeast colonies. Oncotarget 2016;7(13):15299–314.
- [10] Vachova L, Chernyavskiy O, Strachotova D, Bianchini P, Burdikova Z, Fercikova I, Kubinova L, Palkova Z. Architecture of developing multicellular yeast colony: spatio-temporal expression of Ato1p ammonium exporter. Environ Microbiol 2009;11(7):1866–77.
- [11] Vachova L, Stovicek V, Hlavacek O, Chernyavskiy O, Stepanek L, Kubinova L, Palkova Z. Flo11p, drug efflux pumps, and the extracellular matrix cooperate to form biofilm yeast colonies. J Cell Biol 2011;194(5):679–87.
- [12] Plocek V, Váchová L, Šťovíček V, Palková Z. Cell distribution within yeast colonies and colony biofilms: how structure develops. Int J Mol Sci 2020;21 (11):3873.
- [13] Alves R, Barata-Antunes C, Casal M, Brown AJP, Van Dijck P, Paiva S, et al. Adapting to survive: How *Candida* overcomes host-imposed constraints during human colonization. PLoS Pathog 2020;16(5):e1008478.

- [14] Atriwal T, Azeem K, Husain FM, Hussain A, Khan MN, Alajmi MF, et al. Mechanistic understanding of *Candida albicans* biofilm formation and approaches for its inhibition. Front Microbiol 2021;12:638609.
- [15] Lohse MB, Gulati M, Johnson AD, Nobile CJ. Development and regulation of single- and multi-species *Candida albicans* biofilms. Nat Rev Microbiol 2018;16 (1):19–31.
- [16] Váchová L, Hatáková L, Čáp M, Pokorná M, Palková Z. Rapidly developing yeast microcolonies differentiate in a similar way to aging giant colonies. Oxid Med Cell Longev 2013;2013:1–9.
- [17] Palková Z, Janderová B, Gabriel Jiří, Zikánová B, Pospíšek M, Forstová J. Ammonia mediates communication between yeast colonies. Nature 1997;390 (6659):532–6.
- [18] Palkova Z, Forstova J. Yeast colonies synchronise their growth and development. J Cell Sci 2000;113(11):1923–8.
- [19] Vachova L, Palkova Z. Physiological regulation of yeast cell death in multicellular colonies is triggered by ammonia. J Cell Biol 2005;169(5):711–7.
- [20] Palková Z, Devaux F, Řičicová M, Mináriková L, Le Crom S, Jacq C, et al. Ammonia pulses and metabolic oscillations guide yeast colony development. Mol Biol Cell 2002;13(11):3901–14.
- [21] Vachova L, Kucerova H, Devaux F, Ulehlova M, Palkova Z. Metabolic diversification of cells during the development of yeast colonies. Environ Microbiol 2009;11(2):494–504.
- [22] Plocek V, Fadrhonc K, Maršíková J, Váchová L, Pokorná A, Hlaváček O, et al. Mitochondrial retrograde signaling contributes to metabolic differentiation in yeast colonies. Int J Mol Sci 2021;22(11):5597.
- [23] Wilkinson D, Marsikova J, Hlavacek O, Gilfillan GD, Jezkova E, Aaløkken R, et al. Transcriptome remodeling of differentiated cells during chronological ageing of yeast colonies: new insights into metabolic differentiation. Oxid Med Cell Longev 2018;2018:1D4932905.
- [24] DeBerardinis RJ, Cheng T. Q's next: the diverse functions of glutamine in metabolism, cell biology and cancer. Oncogene 2010;29(3):313–24.
- [25] Čáp M, Váchová L, Palková Z. Longevity of U cells of differentiated yeast colonies grown on respiratory medium depends on active glycolysis. Cell Cycle 2015;14(21):3488–97.
- [26] Traven A, Jänicke A, Harrison P, Swaminathan A, Seemann T, Beilharz TH, et al. Transcriptional profiling of a yeast colony provides new insight into the heterogeneity of multicellular fungal communities. PLoS ONE 2012;7(9): e46243.
- [27] Alves R, Kastora SL, Gomes-Gonçalves A, Azevedo N, Rodrigues CF, Silva S, et al. Transcriptional responses of *Candida glabrata* biofilm cells to fluconazole are modulated by the carbon source. NPJ Biofilms Microbiomes 2020;6(1):4.
- [28] Mancera E, Nocedal I, Hammel S, Gulati M, Mitchell KF, Andes DR, et al. Evolution of the complex transcription network controlling biofilm formation in *Candida* species. Elife 2021;10:e64682.
- [29] Šť ovíček V, Váchová L, Kuthan M, Palková Z. General factors important for the formation of structured biofilm-like yeast colonies. Fungal Genet Biol 2010;47 (12):1012–22.
- [30] Van Nguyen P, Plocek V, Vachova L, Palkova Z. Glucose, Cyc8p and Tup1p regulate biofilm formation and dispersal in wild Saccharomyces cerevisiae. NPJ Biofilms Microbiomes 2020;6(1):7.
- [31] Reynolds TB. Going with the Flo: the role of Flo11-dependent and independent interactions in yeast mat formation. J Fungi 2018;4(4):132.
- [32] Tek EL, Sundstrom JF, Gardner JM, Oliver SG, Jiranek V. Evaluation of the ability of commercial wine yeasts to form biofilms (mats) and adhere to plastic: implications for the microbiota of the winery environment. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 2018;94(2):fix188.
- [33] Kuthan M, Devaux F, Janderova B, Slaninova I, Jacq C, Palkova Z. Domestication of wild Saccharomyces cerevisiae is accompanied by changes in gene expression and colony morphology. Mol Microbiol 2003;47(3):745–54.
- [34] Stovicek V, Vachova L, Begany M, Wilkinson D, Palkova Z. Global changes in gene expression associated with phenotypic switching of wild yeast. BMC Genomics 2014;15:136.
- [35] Voordeckers K, De Maeyer D, van der Zande E, Vinces MD, Meert W, Cloots L, et al. Identification of a complex genetic network underlying *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* colony morphology. Mol Microbiol 2012;86(1):225–39.
- [36] Vopalenska I, Stovicek V, Janderova B, Vachova L, Palkova Z. Role of distinct dimorphic transitions in territory colonizing and formation of yeast colony architecture. Environ Microbiol 2010;12(1):264–77.
- [37] Brückner S, Mösch HU. Choosing the right lifestyle: adhesion and development in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. FEMS Microbiol Rev 2012;36(1):25–58.[38] Nguyen P, Hlavacek O, Marsikova J, Vachova L, Palkova Z. Cyc8p and Tup1p
- [38] Nguyen P, Hlavacek O, Marsikova J, Vachova L, Palkova Z. Cyc8p and Tup1p transcription regulators antagonistically regulate Flo11p expression and complexity of yeast colony biofilms. PLoS Genet 2018;14(7):e1007495.
- [39] Chow J, Starr I, Jamalzadeh S, Muniz O, Kumar A, Gokcumen O, Ferkey DM, Cullen PJ. Filamentation regulatory pathways control adhesion-dependent surface responses in yeast. Genetics 2019;212:667–90.
- [40] Araujo D, Henriques M, Silva S. Portrait of Candida species biofilm regulatory network genes. Trends Microbiol 2017;25(1):62–75.
- [41] Gulati M, Nobile CJ. Candida albicans biofilms: development, regulation, and molecular mechanisms. Microbes Infect 2016;18(5):310–21.
- [42] Li P, Seneviratne CJ, Alpi E, Vizcaino JA, Jin L. Delicate metabolic control and coordinated stress response critically determine antifungal tolerance of *Candida albicans* biofilm persisters. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2015;59 (10):6101–12.
- [43] Wuyts J, Van Dijck P, Holtappels M. Fungal persister cells: the basis for recalcitrant infections? PLoS Pathog 2018;14(10):e1007301.

### Z. Palková and Libuše Váchová

- [44] Tsui C, Kong EF, Jabra-Rizk MA. Pathogenesis of Candida albicans biofilm. Pathog Dis 2016;74(4):ftw018.
- [45] Wall G, Montelongo-Jauregui D, Vidal Bonifacio B, Lopez-Ribot JL, Uppuluri P. Candida albicans biofilm growth and dispersal: contributions to pathogenesis. Curr Opin Microbiol 2019;52:1–6.
- [46] Nobile CJ, Mitchell AP. Regulation of cell-surface genes and biofilm formation by the *C. albicans* transcription factor Bcr1p. Curr Biol 2005;15(12):1150–5.
- [47] Yang L, Zheng C, Chen Y, Ying H. FLO genes family and transcription factor MIG1 Regulate Saccharomyces cerevisiae biofilm formation during immobilized fermentation. Front Microbiol 1860;2018:9.
- [48] Fox EP, Bui CK, Nett JE, Hartooni N, Mui MC, Andes DR, Nobile CJ, Johnson AD. An expanded regulatory network temporally controls *Candida albicans* biofilm formation. Mol Microbiol 2015;96(6):1226–39.
- [49] He J, Kim D, Zhou X, Ahn SJ, Burne RA, Richards VP, et al. RNA-Seq reveals enhanced sugar metabolism in *Streptococcus mutans* co-cultured with *Candida albicans* within mixed-species biofilms. Front Microbiol 2017;8:1036.
- [50] Vila T, Kong EF, Montelongo-Jauregui D, Van Dijck P, Shetty AC, McCracken C, et al. Therapeutic implications of *C. albicans-S. aureus* mixed biofilm in a murine subcutaneous catheter model of polymicrobial infection. Virulence 2021;12(1):835–51.
- [51] Zarnowski R, Westler WM, Lacmbouh GA, Marita JM, Bothe JR, Bernhardt J, et al. Novel entries in a fungal biofilm matrix encyclopedia. MBio 2014;5(4): e01333–14.
- [52] Nett JE, Zarnowski R, Cabezas-Olcoz J, Brooks EG, Bernhardt J, Marchillo K, Mosher DF, Andes DR. Host contributions to construction of three deviceassociated *Candida albicans* biofilms. Infect Immun 2015;83(12):4630–8.
- [53] Satala D, Karkowska-Kuleta J, Zelazna A, Rapala-Kozik M, Kozik A. Moonlighting Proteins at the Candidal cell surface. Microorganisms 2020;8 (7):1046.
- [54] Zarnowski R, Sanchez H, Covelli AS, Dominguez E, Jaromin A, Bernhardt J, et al. *Candida albicans* biofilm-induced vesicles confer drug resistance through matrix biogenesis. PLoS Biol 2018;16(10):e2006872.
- [55] Liebana-Jordan M, Brotons B, Falcon-Perez JM, Gonzalez E. Extracellular vesicles in the fungi kingdom. Int J Mol Sci 2021;22:7221.
- [56] Rizzo J, Taheraly A, Janbon G. Structure, composition and biological properties of fungal extracellular vesicles. microLife 2021;2:uqab009.
- [57] Bleackley MR, Dawson CS, Anderson MA. Fungal extracellular vesicles with a focus on proteomic analysis. Proteomics 2019;19(8):e1800232.
- [58] Nobile CJ, Fox EP, Nett JE, Sorrells TR, Mitrovich QM, Hernday AD, et al. A recently evolved transcriptional network controls biofilm development in *Candida albicans*. Cell 2012;148(1–2):126–38.
- [59] Finkel JS, Xu W, Huang D, Hill EM, Desai JV, Woolford CA, et al. Portrait of Candida albicans adherence regulators. PLoS Pathog 2012;8(2):e1002525.
- [60] Holland LM, Schroder MS, Turner SA, Taff H, Andes D, Grozer Z, et al. Comparative phenotypic analysis of the major fungal pathogens *Candida* parapsilosis and *Candida albicans*. PLoS Pathog 2014;10(9):e1004365.
- [61] d'Enfert C, Janbon G. Biofilm formation in *Candida glabrata*: What have we learnt from functional genomics approaches? FEMS Yeast Res 2016;16(1): fov111.

- [62] Bojsen RK, Andersen KS, Regenberg B. Saccharomyces cerevisiae a model to uncover molecular mechanisms for yeast biofilm biology. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 2012;65(2):169–82.
- [63] Reynolds TB, Fink GR. Bakers' yeast, a model for fungal biofilm formation. Science 2001;291(5505):878-81.
- [64] Andersen SK, Bojsen R, Gro L, Sorensen Rejkjaer, Nielsen Weiss M, Lisby M, Folkesson A, Regenberg B. Genetic basis for Saccharomyces cerevisiae biofilm in liquid medium. G3 (Bethesda) 2014;4(9):1671–80.
- [65] Yang L, Zheng C, Chen Y, Shi X, Ying Z, Ying H. Nitric oxide increases biofilm formation in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* by activating the transcriptional factor Mac1p and thereby regulating the transmembrane protein Ctr1. Biotechnol Biofuels 2019;12:30.
- [66] Uppuluri P, Acosta Zaldivar M, Anderson MZ, Dunn MJ, Berman J, Lopez Ribot JL, et al. *Candida albicans* dispersed cells are developmentally distinct from biofilm and planktonic cells. MBio 2018;9(4):e01338–18.
- [67] Ponde NO, Lortal L, Ramage G, Naglik JR, Richardson JP. Candida albicans biofilms and polymicrobial interactions. Crit Rev Microbiol 2021;47 (1):91–111.
- [68] Ellepola K, Truong T, Liu Y, Lin Q, Lim TK, Lee YM, et al. Multi-omics analyses reveal synergistic carbohydrate metabolism in *Streptococcus mutans - Candida albicans* mixed - species biofilms. Infect Immun 2019;87(10):e00339–19.
- [69] Legras JL, Moreno-Garcia J, Zara S, Zara G, Garcia-Martinez T, Mauricio JC, et al. Flor Yeast: New perspectives beyond wine aging. Front Microbiol 2016;7:503.
- [70] Zara S, Bakalinsky AT, Zara G, Pirino G, Demontis MA, Budroni M. FLO11-based model for air-liquid interfacial biofilm formation by Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Appl Environ Microbiol 2005;71(6):2934–9.
- [71] Moreno-Garcia J, Garcia-Martinez T, Moreno J, Mauricio JC. Proteins involved in flor yeast carbon metabolism under biofilm formation conditions. Food Microbiol 2015;46:25–33.
- [72] Moreno-Garcia J, Garcia-Martinez T, Moreno J, Millan MC, Mauricio JC. A proteomic and metabolomic approach for understanding the role of the flor yeast mitochondria in the velum formation. Int J Food Microbiol 2014;172:21–9.
- [73] Moreno-Garcia J, Mauricio JC, Moreno J, Garcia-Martinez T. Differential proteome analysis of a flor yeast strain under biofilm formation. Int J Mol Sci 2017;18(4):720.
- [74] Zarnowski R, Sanchez H, Andreu C, Andes D, Del Olmo ML. Formation and characterization of biofilms formed by salt-tolerant yeast strains in seawaterbased growth medium. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 2021;105(6):2411–26.
- [75] Freimoser FM, Rueda-Mejia MP, Tilocca B, Migheli Q. Biocontrol yeasts: mechanisms and applications. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 2019;35(10):154.
- [76] Giobbe S, Marceddu S, Scherm B, Zara G, Mazzarello VL, Budroni M, Migheli Q. The strange case of a biofilm-forming strain of *Pichia fermentans*, which controls *Monilinia* brown rot on apple but is pathogenic on peach fruit. FEMS Yeast Res 2007;7(8):1389–98.
- [77] Nadal-Ribelles M, Islam S, Wei W, Latorre P, Nguyen M, de Nadal E, et al. Sensitive high-throughput single-cell RNA-seq reveals within-clonal transcript correlations in yeast populations. Nat Microbiol 2019;4(4):683–92.